

REVIEW

King Saud University

Arabian Journal of Chemistry

www.ksu.edu.sa www.sciencedirect.com



Solutions of ionic liquids with diverse aliphatic and aromatic solutes – Phase behavior and potentials for applications: A review article



Zoran P. Visak ^{a,*}, Marta S. Calado ^a, Jelena M. Vuksanovic ^b, Gorica R. Ivanis ^b, Adriana S.H. Branco ^a, Nikola D. Grozdanic ^b, Mirjana Lj. Kijevcanin ^b, Slobodan P. Serbanovic ^b

^a Centro de Química Estrutural, Instituto Superior Técnico, Universidade de Lisboa, Av. Rovisco Pais 1, 1049-001 Lisboa, Portugal ^b Faculty of Technology and Metallurgy, University of Belgrade, Karnegijeva 4, 11120 Belgrade, Serbia

Received 25 March 2014; accepted 1 October 2014 Available online 13 October 2014

KEYWORDS

Ionic liquids; Sustainable solvents; Phase equilibria; Poly(ethylene glycol); High-value compounds

Abstract This article principally reviews our research related to liquid-liquid and solid-liquid phase behavior of imidazolium- and phosphonium-based ionic liquids, mainly having bistriflamide $([NTf_2]^-)$ or triflate $([OTf_1]^-)$ anions, with several aliphatic and aromatic solutes (target molecules). The latter include: (i) diols and triols: 1,2-propanediol, 1,3-propanediol and glycerol; (ii) polymer poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG): average molecular mass 200, 400 and 2050 - PEG200 (liquid), PEG400 (liquid) and PEG2050 (solid), respectively; (iii) polar aromatic compounds: nicotine, aniline, phenolic acids (vanillic, ferulic and caffeic acid,), thymol and caffeine and (iv) non-polar aromatic compounds (benzene, toluene, p-xylene). In these studies, the effects of the cation and anion, cation alkyl chain and PEG chain lengths on the observed phase behaviors were scrutinized. Thus, one of the major observations is that the anion - bistriflamide/triflate - selection usually had strong, sometimes really remarkable effects on the solvent abilities of the studied ionic liquids. Namely, in the case of the hydrogen-bonding solutes, the ionic liquids with the triflate anion generally exhibited substantially higher solubility than those having the bistriflamide anion. Nevertheless, with the aromatic compounds the situation was the opposite - in most of the cases it was the bistriflamide anion that favoured solubility. Moreover, our other studies confirmed the ability of PEG to dissolve both polar and non-polar aromatic compounds. Therefore, two general possibilities of application of alternative, environmentally acceptable, solvents of tuneable solvent properties appeared. One is

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +351 21 841 9229; fax: +351 21 846 4455.

E-mail addresses: zoran.visak@ist.utl.pt, zoranvisak@gmail.com (Z.P. Visak).

Peer review under responsibility of King Saud University.



http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arabjc.2014.10.003

1878-5352 © 2014 Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

List of acronyms							
[NTf.] bistriffamide anion	[C-mim][OTf] 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium triflate						
$[OTf]^-$ triffete opion	[C_mim][OTf] 1 butul 2 methylimidazolium triffata						
	$[C_4 \min_j [O_{11}]]$ 1-butyl-3-methylimidazonum trinate						
PEG poly(ethylene glycol)	[EtSO ₄] ethyl sulfate anion						
UCST Upper-Critical-Solution-Temperature	[C ₂ mim][EtSO ₄] 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium ethyl sulfate						
[dca] ⁻ dicyanamide anion	[C _n mim][NTf ₂] 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide						
$[BF_4]^-$ tetrafluoroborate anion	[C _n mim][OTf] 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium triflate						
$[PF_6]^-$ hexafluorophosphate anion							
[C ₂ mim][NTf ₂] 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide							
[C ₄ mim][NTf ₂] 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide							

to use homogeneous mixtures of two ionic liquids having $[NTf_2]^-$ and $[OTf]^-$ anions as mixed solvents. The other, however, envisages the application of homogeneous and heterogeneous (PEG + ionic liquid) solutions as tuneable solvents for aromatic solutes.

Such mixed solvents have potential applications in separation of the aforesaid target molecules from their aqueous solutions or in extraction from original matrices. From the fundamental point of view the phase equilibrium studies reviewed herein and the diversity of the pure compounds – ionic liquids and target molecules – represent a good base for the discussion of interactions between the molecules that exist in the studied solutions.

© 2014 Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of King Saud University. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	629
2.	Phase Behavior of solutions of imidazolium ionic liquids with typical hydrogen bonding and aromatic compounds: solution	ons
	of imidazolium ionic liquids as potential tuneable solvents 1	630
	2.1. Solubility of ionic liquids with aliphatic primary and secondary alcohols 10	630
	2.2. Different solvent properties of imidazolium ionic liquids with [NTf ₂] ⁻ and [OTf] ⁻ anions toward typical hydrog	gen
	bonding compounds	630
	2.2.1. Specific properties of the $[NTf_2]^-$ anion and their consequences on its interaction abilities 10	632
	2.2.2. Solubility with diols and glycerol 10	632
	2.3. Solubility of the aromatic compounds in imidazolium ionic liquids having ([NTf ₂] ⁻) and ([OTf] ⁻) anions 10	633
3.	"Green Meets Green": solutions of poly(ethylene glycol) and ionic liquids and their potentials as homogeneous	s/or
	heterogeneous mixed solvents	635
4.	Ionic liquids as potential solvents for high-value compounds 10	636
5.	Summary 10	637
	Acknowledgements	638
	References	638

1. Introduction

There are several reasons to comprehend ionic liquids as exceptional and useful class of ionic compounds: (i) extensive liquid range favorable for solvent applications; (ii) indefinite number of combinations of constitutive cations and anions which, by themselves, may have quite varied structures and complexity (Plechkova and Seddon, 2008); (iii) practical non-volatility in a wide range of temperatures (Rogers and Seddon, 2003; Paulechka et al., 2003; Rebelo et al., 2005), providing environmental sustainability – low atmospheric pollution; thus, ionic liquids are promising substitutes for the existing volatile and generally toxic organic solvents; (iv) ionic nature (polarity) and fine hydrogen bond basicity and acidity (Crowhurst et al., 2003; Ab Rani et al., 2011), resulting in good ability to form hydrogen bonds (Cammarata et al., 2001; Domanska and Marciniak, 2004; Domanska and Casas, 2007; Domanska et al., 2012; Crosthwaite et al., 2004, 2005, 2006); (v) diversity and versatility in solvent power – being ionic (polar) but, at the same time, possessing non-polar domains (aliphatic chains), primarily in the cations (Rebelo et al., 2007), ionic liquids can dissolve both polar and non-polar compounds (Visak, 2012; Calado et al., 2013a; Łachwa et al., 2006a; Domanska and Casas, 2007; Crosthwaite et al., 2004); (vi) general possibility to design and tune their solvent properties (Freemantle, 1998) either by anion selection (Trindade et al., 2010) or by change of the chain-length of the aliphatic non-polar domains (Rebelo et al., 2007); even more, this opportunity enabled the concept of so-called "task-specific" ionic liquids – those for which the structures of their cations and/or anions are tailored for particular applications (Davis, 2004).

This review is mainly related to our phase equilibria (Calado et al., 2013a,b,c; Trindade et al., 2010) and volumetric studies (Vuksanovic et al., 2013) covering the solutions of imidazolium and phosphonium ionic liquids, mainly having bistriflamide ([NTf₂]⁻) or triflate ([OTf]⁻) anions, with several aliphatic and aromatic solutes: (i) diols and triols: 1,2-propanediol, 1,3-propanediol and glycerol (Trindade et al., 2010); (ii) non-polar aromatic compounds (benzene, toluene, p-xylene) (Calado et al., 2013a); (iii) polymer poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG): average molecular mass 200, 400 and 2050 - PEG200 (liquid), PEG400 (liquid) and PEG2050 (solid), respectively (Calado et al., 2013b; Vuksanovic et al., 2013) and (iv) polar aromatic compounds: toxic nicotine and aniline (Calado et al., 2013a) but as well high-value compounds - phenolic acids (vanillic, ferulic and caffeic acid), thymol and caffeine (Calado et al., 2013c). These target molecules have different hydrogen bond acidities and basicities as well as dipole moments. The latter vary from values which are very high (phenolic acids and PEG) or moderately high (nicotine and aniline) to those very low or practically zero (arenes). Also, melting points differ, so that some of the solutes are solid at ambient temperatures (high-value compounds) while others are liquids. Table 1 gives the list of the ionic liquids and solutes considered herein, at the same time showing the physicochemical properties of these compounds.

Thus, the results presented herein clearly depict the aforementioned features of ionic liquids, particularly their diversity and versatility as solvents. At the same time, they envisage potential applications of ionic liquids or their solutions, both homogeneous and heterogeneous, as alternative solvents.

Besides the applicative implications the fundamental importance of the solutions reviewed herein exists as well. Comprehensive diversity of their phase behaviors – presented in the related phase diagrams – along with a variety in physicochemical properties of the solvents and solutes offers good grounds for the discussion of molecular interactions that stand behind the phenomena.

2. Phase Behavior of solutions of imidazolium ionic liquids with typical hydrogen bonding and aromatic compounds: solutions of imidazolium ionic liquids as potential tuneable solvents

One of the most important observations that emerge from the studies reviewed herein is that the selection between $[NTf_2]^-$ and $[OTf]^-$ anion had very strong and sometimes even extraordinary effects on the phase behavior due to the distinctions that exist between these two anions. These are exposed either (i) as a superiority of the $[OTf]^-$ over the $[NTf_2]^-$ anion to form strong attractive interactions – particularly hydrogen bonds or (ii) in higher solubility of aromatic compounds in the ionic liquids with the $[NTf_2]^-$ anion compared to those with the $[OTf]^-$ anion.

2.1. Solubility of ionic liquids with aliphatic primary and secondary alcohols

At this point, it is interesting to briefly review the phase behavior of the solutions of ionic liquids with aliphatic primary and secondary alcohols. In these solutions, the constituents comprise of both polar and non-polar moieties (aliphatic chains) and their competition is a main feature of the Upper-Critical-Solution-Temperature (UCST) liquid-liquid phase behavior (Crosthwaite et al., 2004, 2005, 2006). The cited studies show that the UCST can indeed be tuned by the length of the aliphatic chains – both in ionic liquid cations and alcohols. Namely the solubility decreases as the aliphatic chain in ionic liquid cation shortens but increases if the same occurs with the aliphatic chain in alcohol, regardless of being primary or secondary. However, it was found that secondary alcohols generally exhibit higher solubility with imidazolium ionic liquids than the primary ones (Crosthwaite et al., 2004; Domanska and Marciniak, 2004).

As it was noticed in the previous review (Visak, 2012) the effect of the alcohol chain length exits as well in solid–liquid-equilibria (SLE) of the solutions of ionic liquids with alcohol, often accompanied with the liquid–liquid immiscibility (Domanska and Marciniak, 2004; Domanska and Casas, 2007; Domanska, 2010; Domanska et al., 2011).

With respect to the anion-alcohol affinity, the trend determined, namely dicyanamide $[dca]^- >$ triflate $[OTf]^- >$ bistriflamide $[NTf_2]^- >$ tetrafluoroborate $[BF_4]^- >$ hexa fluorophosphate $[PF_6]^-$ (Crosthwaite et al., 2004) follows that of an anion-water hydrogen bond strength (Cammarata et al., 2001) and, generally of the hydrogen bond basicities (the exception to this rule is the advantage of the $[NTf_2]^-$ over the $[BF_4]^-$ anion). The conclusion is that the anion selection has a dramatic impact on ionic liquid-anion solubility.

2.2. Different solvent properties of imidazolium ionic liquids with $[NTf_2]^-$ and $[OTf]^-$ anions toward typical hydrogen bonding compounds

Imidazolium ionic liquids with triflate and bistriflamide anions show distinct phase behavior with typical hydrogen bonding compounds such as water and alcohols: (i) [C_nmim][OTf] has excellent aqueous solubility - in particular, Room Temperature Ionic Liquids (RTILs) $[C_n mim][OTf]$ (n = 2-6) are even completely soluble in water (Calado et al., 2013a; Trindade et al., 2010); on the other hand RTILs with the same cation but having $[NTf_2]^-$ anion are hydrophobic and, thus, exhibit very limited aqueous solubility (Crosthwaite et al., 2004; Freire et al., 2008); (ii) in the case of aliphatic alcohols, as their chain increases, [C₄mim][OTf] starts to be partially miscible only with dodecanol; however, for [C₄mim][NTf₂], this phenomenon occurs already with n-butanol (Crosthwaite et al., 2004); (iii) some polymers which are strong hydrogen bonding compounds such as poly(methacrylic acid), poly(vinyl alcohol) and poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) are practically not soluble in the ionic liquid [C₂mim][NTf₂] (Ueki and Watanabe, 2006).

Fourier transform infrared (FT-IR) spectroscopy performed on aqueous solutions of imidazolium-based ionic liquids with several anions (Cammarata et al., 2001) determined the spectral shifts due to the anion-water hydrogen bonds and the (negative) enthalpies related to these interactions. The latter were about 50% higher by absolute values in the case of the [OTf]⁻ anion, compared to [NTf₂]⁻ indicating that the first anion builds much stronger hydrogen bonds with water.

Physicochemical properties – dipole moment (μ), hydrogen bond acidity (α)^a, hydrogen bond basicity (β)^a and melting point (Tm) of the compounds considered in the current Table 1 review.

Compound	μ/\mathbf{D}	Literature	α	β	Literature	Tm/K	Literature
[C ₂ mim][NTf ₂]	с	_	0.705	0.233	Chiappe and Pieraccini (2006)	264.15	Bonhôte et al. (1996)
$[C_4 mim][NTf_2]$	с	-	0.617	0.243	Crowhurst et al. (2003)	269.15	Bonhôte et al. (1996)
[C ₄ mim][OTf] ^b	с	-	0.625	0.464	Crowhurst et al. (2003)	289.15	Bonhôte et al. (1996)
[P _{6.6.6.14}][NTf ₂]	с	-	0.37	0.27	Coleman et al. (2009)	N/A	_
[C ₂ mim][EtSO ₄]	с	-	N/A	0.710	Palgunadi et al. (2011)	208.15 ^d	Holbrey et al. (2002)
1,2-PD	2.20	Reid et al. (1987)	0.83	0.78	Fonrodona et al. (1996)	213	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
1,3-PD	2.50	Reid et al. (1987)	0.80	0.77	Fonrodona et al. (1996)	246	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
Glycerol	2.16	Rizk and Elanwar (1968)	0.88-1.06	0.66	Jessop et al. (2012)	254.9	Pagliaro and Rossi (2008)
PEG200	3.06-3.94	Rudan-Tasic and Klofutar (2005)	0.46	0.63	Kim et al. (2002)	218-233	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
PEG400	3.70-4.96	Rudan-Tasic and Klofutar (2005)	0.31	0.65	Kim et al. (2002)	277-281	Sigma–Aldrich Material Data Sheet
PEG2050	6.53-8.51 ^e	Rudan-Tasic and Klofutar (2005)	N/A	N/A	_	330.14	Ivanis et al. (2012)
Nicotine	1.81	Ochoa and Harrington (2004)	N/A	0.69	Abraham et al. (1990)	194	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
Aniline	1.15	Zakrzewska et al. (2005)	N/A	0.38	Abraham et al. (1990)	267	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
Thymol	1.54	Le Févre et al. (1935)	f	f	_	322.0	Manic et al. (2012)
Ferulic acid	5.4-6.2	Thomas et al. (2012)	f	f	_	444.9	Manic et al. (2012)
Vanillic acid	4.07	Clavijo et al. (2008)	f	f	_	480.7	Manic et al. (2012)
Caffeic acid	3.626	Leopoldini et al. (2006)	f	f	_	464.1	Manic et al. (2012)
Caffeine	3.70	Weiler-Feilchenfeld and Neiman (1970)	N/A, assumed low	1.35	Tian and Row (2008)	505.4	Manic et al. (2012)
Benzene	0.0-0.18	Altschuller (1953)	0.0	0.1	Hofmann et al. (2008)	278	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
Toluene	0.34-0.38	Altschuller (1953)	0.0	0.11	Hofmann et al. (2008)	180	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
o-Xylene	0.53-0.62	Altschuller (1953)	0.0	0.16	Jessop et al. (2012)	247-250	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet
p-Xylene	0.0-0.13	Altschuller (1953)	0.0	0.12	Lagalante et al. (1996)	285-286	Sigma-Aldrich Material Data Sheet

^a Hydrogen bond acidity (α) and hydrogen bond basicity (β) are mainly cation and anion controlled, respectively (Ab Rani et al., 2011).

^b The values of α and β for [C₂mim][OTf], not available in literature, can be reasonably estimated on the basis of α and β for [C₄mim][OTf].

^c Ionic (charged) compounds – polarity is estimated through polarity scales (hydrogen bond acidity α , hydrogen bond basicity β and polarizability π^*) (Ab Rani et al., 2011). ^d Glass transition temperature.

^e These values are determined for PEG1500 – since dipole moment rises with the average molecular mass, for PEG2050 it will only be higher.

^f Parameters α and β are not available in literature, but phenolic acids have multiple hydrogen bonding sites (Ota et al., 2011; Belkov et al., 2012) while thymol has one (proton donor) site according to the International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology Database.



Figure 1 Temperature-composition liquid–liquid equilibria (LLE) phase diagrams at 0.1 MPa for the solutions of $[C_2. mim][NTf_2]$ with: (a) 1,2-propanediol (filled circles), (b) 1,3-propandiol (hollow circles), (c) glycerol (filled squares). Lines represent only guides to eye. Two-phase regions are placed inside the respective envelopes. X_{IL} presents the mole fractions of ionic liquid in the solution.

Hydrogen bond basicity, which is mainly anion controlled (Ab Rani et al., 2011) of the [OTf]⁻ anion is almost two times higher than that of $[NTf_2]^-$ (Crowhurst et al., 2003; Ab Rani et al., 2011).

2.2.1. Specific properties of the $[NTf_2]^-$ anion and their consequences on its interaction abilities

Two specific properties of the $[NTf_2]^-$ anion that obstruct its interaction abilities, including hydrogen bonding (proton acceptance with neighboring donors) should particularly be addressed: delocalization of the negative charge and steric hindrance (due to the aniońs bulkiness) (Golding et al., 1998; MacFarlane et al., 1999; Deetlefs et al., 2006).

The first feature considers that the specific interactions between the neighboring sulfur and nitrogen atoms in the anion delocalize the negative charge mainly along the anion's S–N–S moiety, while only a small portion of the charge remains delocalized on the sulfonyl oxygen atoms (Cruickshank, 1961). In this way, the oxygen atoms and terminal – CF₃ groups shield the negative charge and obstruct Coulomb interactions with the coupled cation (MacFarlane et al., 1999). However, the ability of the sulfonate oxygens to accept

protons has to be decreased as well (Deetlefs et al., 2006), being reflected in much lower hydrogen bond basicity of the anion (see above). The delocalization phenomenon is supported by the bond lengths in the crystal structure of $[NTf_2]^-$ anion reported in the literature (Golding et al., 1998).

Steric hindrance is seen (Golding et al., 1998; Holbrey et al., 2004) mainly as a consequence of (i) S–N–S angle (125°) slightly larger than that in the trigonal pyramidal molecular structure (~107°) and ii) bulkiness of the – SO₂CF₃ groups in the anion which shield the negative charge. This hindrance sustains the aforesaid charge delocalization and helps in reducing interaction ability of the [NTf₂]⁻ anion. However, the irregular shape and large size of the [NTf₂]⁻ anion which result in its inefficient packing can be as well seen as contributors to steric difficulties which impede interactions (Forsyth et al., 2002).

2.2.2. Solubility with diols and glycerol

The aforementioned challenging findings which do implicate interaction superiority of the $[OTf]^-$ anion over the $[NTf_2]^-$ – particularly in hydrogen bond formation – turned our attention to the solutions of the ionic liquids cited above with other typical hydrogen bonding compounds: 1,2-propanediol, 1,3-propanediol, glycerol (phase equilibria and spectroscopic studies (Trindade et al., 2010)) and poly(ethylene glycol) (volumetric and viscosity studies (Vuksanovic et al., 2013)).

In the first study, it was found that the ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium triflate $[C_2mim][OTf]$ was completely soluble with all the aforementioned polyalcohols. On the other hand, 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide $[C_2-mim][NTf_2]$ behaved dramatically different – it has always shown partial miscibility, which was even very extended in the case of 1,3-propandiol and glycerol (see Fig. 1). This behavior is in agreement with that with water and aliphatic mono-alcohols described above.

FTIR spectroscopic studies performed within the same work provided the stretching frequencies of the hydroxyl groups of each diol in the solution and in pure alcohols. Afterward, the shifts with respect to the frequencies of the pure alcohols were calculated. These shifts, associated with the hydrogen bonds between alcohol hydroxyl groups (proton donors) and ionic liquid anions (proton acceptors), were significantly reduced in the solutions with $[C_2mim][NTf_2]$ when compared to those with $[C_2mim][OTf] -$ (see Table 2), thus clearly indicating weaker hydrogen bonds in the case of the solutions with $[C_2mim][NTf_2]$.

Finally, our recent study (Vuksanovic et al., 2013) has shown negative excess molar volumes of the solutions of ionic liquid $[C_2mim][OTf]$ with liquid poly(ethylene glycol), PEG200, (average molecular mass 200). However, for the solutions of this liquid polymer with ionic liquid $[C_2mim][NTf_2]$

Table 2 Shifts of the stretching frequencies of the hydroxyl group in 1,2-propandiol, 1,3-propandiol and glycerol in the presence of imidazolium ionic liquids with $[OTf]^-$ and $[NTf_2]^-$ anions.

Component	Pure alcohol	Alcohol+[C ₂ mim][OTf]	Alcohol + [C ₂ mim][NTf ₂]		
	Stretching frequency ν/cm^{-1}	Stretching frequency ν/cm^{-1}	Shift	Stretching frequency ν/cm^{-1}	Shift
1,2-Propandiol	3635	3384	251	3469	166
1,3-Propandiol	3634	3423	211	3489	145
Glycerol	3634	3432	202	3530	104



Figure 2 Comparison of the excess molar volumes at 308.15 K and 0.1 MPa: filled squares – (PEG200 (1) + $[C_2mim][NTf_2]$ (2)) solutions, hollow squares – (PEG200 (1) + $[C_2mim][OTf]$ (2)) solutions. X_{PEG} stands for the mole fractions of liquid PEG in the solution.

excess molar volumes change sign from positive to negative as the content of PEG200 increases, with the absolute values far lower than in the case of the first solution (see Fig. 2). This behavior and even more the excess molar volumes at infinite dilution (see Fig. 3) – which exclude solvent–solvent interactions – indicate much stronger attractive interactions (hydrogen bonds and ion–dipole interactions) in the case of $[C_2mim][OTf]$. The effect can be reasonably attributed to the anion, since the cation is kept the same. Thus, it coincides with the discussion related to hydrogen bond abilities of the studied anions (see above). Therefore, all these significant distinctions open the possibility to use the mixtures of $[C_2mim][NTf_2]$ and $[C_2mim][OTf]$ ionic liquids as mixed solvents which hydrophobic/hydrophilic nature and, consequently, hydrogen bonding capabilities are tuneable by composition. Namely, more $[C_2mim][OTf]$ increases the hydrophilic nature of the mixed solvent and improves the formation of hydrogen bonds, while the addition of $[C_2mim][NTf_2]$ does the opposite. In principle, this adjustment provides a possibility to find the best performance of such a solvent, thus providing an optimum efficiency of separation process – the best partition coefficients of a target molecule and separation factors.

As it was pointed-out (Trindade et al., 2010), one of the possible applications of such a mixed solvent could be in the separation of the 1,3-propandiol from glycerol and/or its aqueous solutions. This is an important issue in the microbial production of this diol, since the fermentation broth is aqueous (Xiu and Zeng, 2008). Thus, Fig. 4 shows that a mixture of 60 mol% [C₂mim][NTf₂] and 40 mol% [C₂mim][OTf] is an excellent solvent for 1,3-propandiol, while it does not dissolve much glycerol at the same time. Also, the figure indicates that there is an interval of compositions in which it would be possible to separate the diol from both water and glycerol, at ambient or near-ambient temperatures.

2.3. Solubility of the aromatic compounds in imidazolium ionic liquids having $([NTf_2]^-)$ and $([OTf]^-)$ anions

Several studies (Łachwa et al., 2006a,b; Blesic et al., 2009; Holbrey et al., 2003; Deetlefs et al., 2005) confirmed that imidazolium ionic liquids form specific cation and anion interactions with the aromatic arene ring which result in a cage-like structure. The latter can be explained using the case of ionic liquids with $[NTf_2]^-$ anion and benzene (Łachwa et al., 2006a,b): (i) the anion-aromatic ring interactions are planar and occur mainly between the benzene hydrogen atoms and oxygen atoms in the anion sulfonyl groups while (ii) ionic liquid cations are situated above and below the aromatic rings



Figure 3 Excess molar volumes at infinite dilution, $\bar{V}_i^{E,\infty}$ (i = 1,2) and 0.1 MPa for the solutions of PEG200 (1) with (a) [C₂mim][OTf] (2): hollow circles $-\bar{V}_1^{E,\infty}$; hollow squares $-\bar{V}_2^{E,\infty}$; (b) [C₂mim][NTf₂] (2): filled circles $-\bar{V}_1^{E,\infty}$; filled squares $-\bar{V}_2^{E,\infty}$.



Figure 4 Temperature-composition liquid–liquid equilibria (LLE) phase diagram at 0.1 MPa showing the possibility to use a mixture of 60 mol% [C_2 mim][NTf₂] and 40 mol% [C_2 mim][OTf] as a mixed solvent (MS) for the sustainable separation of 1,3-propanediol from aqueous solutions with glycerol. The symbols refer to the solutions of MS with: filled triangles – 1,3-propanediol, filled circles – water, hollow circles – glycerol. Lines are given only as a guide to eye. X_{MS} is the mole fraction of the mixed solvent (MS) in the solution. The experimental points on the water-rich side were experimentally inaccessible since the miscibility limit is below the accuracy of the experiments. Two-phase regions are placed inside the respective envelopes.

and their interactions are mostly π - π interactions between the two aromatic rings or interactions between acidic hydrogen in the imidazolium cation and π electrons in the aromatic ring. This structure significantly supports the solubility of virtually non-polar aromatic compounds such as arenes (Łachwa et al., 2006a) but as well of the polar aromatics, for instance nicotine and aniline (Calado et al., 2013a; Visak et al., 2007) in ionic liquids. It was also found (Łachwa et al., 2006a,b) that the extension of the cation alkyl chains – non-polar domains – supports the formation of the cage-like structure and provides higher solubility of arenes. This phenomenon is in agreement with the non-polar or weakly polar character of arenes.

One of the interesting features of the phase behavior of the solutions of imidazolium ionic liquid with aromatic compounds is that the $[NTf_2]^-$ anion, coupled with the same cation, significantly improves the solubility of the aromatic compounds when compared to the $[OTf]^-$ anion (Calado et al., 2013a; Blesic et al., 2009; Ferreira et al., 2011) – Fig. 5 clearly depicts this phenomenon.

The aforementioned distinction stands as well in the case of the solutions of ionic liquids with polar aromatic compounds such as nicotine and aniline. Ionic liquids 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide $[C_2mim][NTf_2]$ and 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium $[C_4mim][NTf_2]$ were found to be completely soluble with these aromatics (Calado et al., 2013a; Visak et al., 2007) while, on the contrary, ionic liquids $[C_2mim][OTf]$ and $[C_4mim][OTf]$ show very limited solubility (Calado et al., 2013a) – see Fig. 6.



Figure 5 Temperature-composition liquid–liquid equilibria (LLE) phase diagrams at 0.1 MPa for the solutions: hollow circles – ([C₂mim][NTf₂] + benzene), hollow squares – ([C₂mim][NTf₂] + toluene), hollow triangles – ([C₂mim][NTf₂] + *p*-xylene), filled circles – ([C₂mim][OTf] + benzene), filled triangles – ([C₂mim][OTf] + toluene), filled squares – ([C₂mim][OTf] + *p*-xylene). The arrows indicate the direction of 1-phase to 2-phase transition (and vice versa). The points on the arene-rich sides of the diagrams were experimentally inaccessible due to extremely low solubility of the ionic liquids in arenes. X_{IL} presents the mole fractions of ionic liquid in the solutions.



Figure 6 Temperature-composition liquid–liquid equilibria (LLE) phase diagrams at 0.1 MPa for the solutions of $[C_2$ -mim][OTf] with: filled squares – nicotine, hollow squares – aniline. Two-phase regions are placed inside the respective envelopes. X_{IL} represents the mole fractions of ionic liquids in the solutions.

Non-polar aromatic compounds (arenes) are significant water pollutants due to their elevated toxicity (Shim et al.,

2004). The same stands for nicotine which is an emerging aqueous pollutant in discarded waters from tobacco industry (Sponza, 2002), ground waters (Stuart et al., 2012; Jurado et al., 2012) and urban waste waters (Benotti and Brownawell, 2007; Muñoz et al., 2008). The discussed distinctions of the imidazolium ionic liquids with bistriflamide and triflate anions toward water and aromatic compounds bring the possibility to use hydrophobic ionic liquids [C_nmim][NTf₂] or their mixtures with hydrophilic [C_nmim][OTf], ([C_nmim][NTf₂]+[C_nmim][OTf]), in separation of aromatic compounds – both polar and non-polar – from their aqueous and non-aqueous solutions. Tunable solvent power of these mixed solvents, feasible by adjusting their composition (see above), once again opens further opportunities for the improvement of separation process efficiency.

3. "Green Meets Green": solutions of poly(ethylene glycol) and ionic liquids and their potentials as homogeneous/or heterogeneous mixed solvents

Detailed toxicity studies (Heldebrant et al., 2006) revealed poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) as an environmentally acceptable and non-toxic, practically eatable polymer. Also, liquid PEG is virtually non-volatile and also represents an appropriate alternative for classical (toxic) solvents in catalysis (Heldebrant et al., 2006) and organic synthesis (Liang et al., 2009) since it is highly polar (Rudan-Tasic and Klofutar, 2005), good proton donor and even better acceptor due to the repeating oxygen atoms in its ethylene oxide monomer units (Kim et al., 2002). However, this polymer can sometimes change its polar conformation (ordered, helical structure) to non-polar (random coil-like structure), following the solution's polarity (Chen et al., 2002). Thus, PEG becomes a good solvent for virtually non-polar aromatic compounds such as arenes



Figure 7 Temperature-composition liquid–liquid equilibria (LLE) phase diagrams at 0.1 MPa for the solutions: hollow triangles – (PEG200 + toluene), filled circles – (PEG400 + o-xylene), hollow circles – (PEG400 + p-xylene). Two-phase regions are placed inside the respective envelopes. X_{PEG} represents the mole fractions of ionic liquids in the solutions.



Figure 8 The comparison of the liquid–liquid phase behavior at 0.1 MPa of the (PEG200 + [P_{6,6,6,14}][NTf₂]) (filled circles), (PEG400 + [P_{6,6,6,14}] [NTf₂]) (hollow circles), and (PEG400 + [P_{6,6,6,14}][OTf]) (filled squares) solutions. Two-phase regions are placed inside the respective envelops. The lines are given only as guides to eye. X_{PEG} represents mole fractions of PEG in the solutions.

(Sabadini, 1993; Ivanis et al., 2012): benzene is completely miscible in liquid PEG200, PEG400 and PEG600, toluene in PEG400. Also, toluene shows limited but yet very good solubility in PEG200 and the same can be stated for *o*- and *p*xylene in PEG400 (Ivanis et al., 2012) (see the phase diagrams in Fig. 7).

Due to the favorable features of PEG and ionic liquids (see the Introduction) we have studied the solubility and phase behavior in the solutions of these compounds of complex solvent powers (Calado et al., 2013c). Ionic liquids studied were imidazolium-($[C_n mim]^-$) and phosphonium-($[P_{6,6,6,14}]^-$) based having bistriflamide [NTf₂]⁻, triflate [OTf]⁻ and ethyl-sulfate [EtSO₄]⁻ anions while the studied poly(ethylene glycols) (PEGs) were PEG200, PEG 400 (both liquid) and PEG2050 (solid).

From the fundamental aspect, interesting impacts of cation and anion were observed.

Imidazolium cation provided substantially better liquid– liquid and solid–liquid solubility than phosphonium, principally due to its higher hydrogen bond acidity (see Table 1) which allows stronger hydrogen bonds with PEG as a proton acceptor at its oxygen atoms in the chain. Thus, imidazolium ionic liquids studied have shown complete miscibility with liquid PEG200 and PEG400 while those phosphonium – except the fully soluble system (PEG200+[P_{6,6,6,14}][OTf]) -exhibited a very limited solubility (see Fig. 8).

However, the anion effect was found to be far more complex; in the solutions of liquid PEG200 and PEG400 with the phosphonium ionic liquids the $[OTf]^-$ anion significantly improved the solubility with liquid PEG when compared to the $[NTf_2]^-$ (see also Fig. 8), which agrees with the discussion above. However, in the solutions of the imidazolium ionic liquids and solid PEG2050 the solubility followed the order of the



Figure 9 (a) Temperature-composition phase diagrams at 0.1 MPa for the solutions of PEG2050 with: [C₂mim][NTf₂] (hollow squares), solid-liquid equilibria; [C2mim][OTf] (filled squares), solid-liquid equilibria; [C2mim][EtSO4] (hollow circles), solid-liquid equilibria; [C2mim][EtSO4] (crosses), liquid-liquid equilibria. All the lines are given only as guides to eye. Φ_{PEG} represents segment fractions of PEG in the solutions, calculated using the equation $rX_1/(rX_1 + X_2)$. In this equation r, X_1 and X_2 represent the ratio of average molecular masses of the components (Calado et al., 2013b), mole fraction of PEG2050 and mole fraction of ionic liquid, respectively. Two-phase regions are placed inside the respective envelopes. (a) reprinted from Fluid Phase Equilibria, Vol. 344, Copyright (2013), pages 6-12: Authors: Calado, M.S., Ivanis, G.R., Vuksanovic, J.M., Kijevcanin, M. Lj., Serbanovic, S.P., Visak, Z.P. Title of article: "Green Meets Green" - Sustainable Solutions of Imidazolium and Phosphonium Ionic Liquids with Poly(ethylene glycol): Solubility and Phase Behaviour", pages 6–12, with the permission from Elsevier.

anions $[NTf_2]^- > [OTf] > [EtSO_4]$ (see Fig. 9) which does not correspond to their hydrogen bond basicities (see Table 1). Thus, this anion effect has to be seen as an outcome of the interplay between cation-anion, PEG-PEG and PEG-anion interactions. The first two types of interaction, which support phase separation, sometimes prevail over the last one that sustains solubility. There are at least three reasons for this occurrence. Firstly, the increase in the anion facility to form hydrogen bonds does not always improve the solubility with PEG in the solutions with PEG2050 - in fact it may provide stronger cation-anion interactions. Secondly, spectroscopic evidences indicate that cation-anion interactions are stronger in $[C_n mim][OTf]$ ionic liquids than in $[C_n mim][NTf_2]$ (Fernandes et al., 2011; Bini et al., 2007) and high hydrogen bond basicity of 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium [C₂mim][EtSO₄] (practically of its anion) (Table 1) suggests that it can be reasonably assumed that these interactions are even stronger in the case of this ionic liquid. Finally, strong inter- and intramolecular hydrogen bonds (PEG-PEG) exist in longer-chain solid polymer PEG2050 (Philippova et al., 1985).

Diverse solvent properties of PEGs and ionic liquids toward both non-polar and polar aromatic compounds and

the related phase behavior – see Figs. 7-9 – enable applications of (PEG + ionic liquid) solutions as potential mixed (combined) and tunable solvents. In this respect, the opportunities one can envisage are to combine highly hydrophilic (water-soluble) PEG with i) hydrophobic bistriflamide ionic liquids or ii) hydrophilic ionic liquids with longer cation alkyl chain. These solvents can exist either as homogeneous solutions or as liquid biphasic systems – the latter application was already discussed by Rodríguez et al. (2009). The solvent power of these mixed solvents is primarily adjusted by the composition of a homogeneous solution or the initial heterogeneous solution that forms a liquid biphasic system. As in the case of homogeneous solutions of ionic liquids (see above) these applications may include non-aqueous and aqueous solutions of arenes, and aqueous solutions of nicotine.

Our solubility and phase equilibrium studies (Calado et al., 2013c) can be seen as an important first step or a guide for the aforementioned applications. First, it revealed which of the studied (PEG200/or PEG400 + ionic liquid) solutions exhibited complete liquid–liquid miscibility – hence they can be potentially used as homogeneous mixed solvents. Or, in the case of the solutions with solid PEG2050 or partially miscible systems with the liquid PEGs, the temperature-composition phase diagrams, at pressure of 0.1 MPa, were determined thus actually mapping temperature and composition borders of their applications as homogeneous solvents or liquid biphasic systems.

4. Ionic liquids as potential solvents for high-value compounds

High-value compounds: thymol, ferulic acid, caffeic acid, vanillic acid and caffeine represent compounds with important positive health effects – anti-cancer, anti-sickling and anthelmintic as well as potential helpful neurological impacts (Manic et al., 2012). Consequently, there is an ever growing necessity to search for alternative solvents which would allow sustainable extraction of these compounds from their natural matrices. On the other hand, these five compounds are highly polar and have excellent abilities to form hydrogen bonds. Namely, caffeine and phenolic acids have several hydrogen bonding sites (Ota et al., 2011; Belkov et al., 2012; Tian and Row, 2008) while thymol has one proton donor site as reported by the International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology Database.

Therefore, ionic liquids and liquid PEG as polar, environmentally friendly and hydrogen bonding compounds are appealing alternative solvents for the cited high-value compounds as we have shown in our recent work (Calado et al., 2013c). This study included ionic liquids 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide [C₄mim][NTf₂] and 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium triflate [C₄mim][OTf], principally having in mind the aforesaid distinct impacts of the bistriflamide and triflate anions on solubility/phase behavior of solutions of ionic liquids with hydrogen bonding substances.

Fig. 10(a–e) shows the performance of ionic liquids $[C_4$ -mim][NTf₂] and $[C_4$ mim][OTf] as well as of PEG400 as solvents for the cited high-value compounds. It is very clear that the $[OTf]^-$ anion has again shown its advantage over the $[NTf_2]^-$ in solubilizing these hydrogen bonding compounds. The exception is caffeine which is predominantly proton acceptor (see Table 1) and good hydrogen bond basicity of

503

473

443

413

383

T/K

(b)

333

328

323

318

313

308

303

298

293

T/K

(a)





Figure 10 Temperature–composition (solid + liquid) equilibria (SLE) phase diagrams, at 0.1 MPa, for the solutions of $[C_4mim][OTf]$ (filled triangles), $[C_4mim][NTf_2]$ (hollow triangles) and PEG400 (filled circles) with the following solutes: (a) thymol; (b) ferulic acid; (c) vanillic acid; (d) caffeic acid, and (e) caffeine. X_2 stands for mole fractions of the respective high-value compound in the solution. The lines are merely guide to eye. The direction of 1 phase to 2-phase transition is shown at Fig. 10 (a) and remains the same in all the other cases (b–e).

the $[OTf]^-$ anion virtually had no impact. However, the thermodynamic analysis accomplished in the study has shown that the low solubility of the studied compounds in ionic liquids $[C_4mim][NTf_2]$ also has strong entropic reasons behind it. On the other hand, PEG400 appeared as an excellent solvent for the four of the five studied compounds – caffeine is once more to be excluded. High polarity of this liquid polymer along with its good proton donor/acceptor abilities certainly contributed to this behavior.

It can be concluded that ionic liquids $[C_4mim][OTf]$ and liquid PEG are very good alternative solvents for thymol and three phenolic acids (ferulic, vanillic and caffeic) – thus,

they can be recommended as media for possible extractions of these high-value compounds from their natural matrices. Caffeine, however, mainly due to its high melting point and zero hydrogen bond acidity, exhibited much worse solubility in these solvents.

5. Summary

This short review outlines our solubility and phase behavior studies of the solutions of ionic liquids with a number of important aliphatic and aromatic solutes different by their

1.0

physicochemical properties – polarity, hydrogen bond acidities and basicities and melting points. The impact of these properties, of ionic liquid anion selection and of intermolecular interactions on the observed behaviors is scrutinized. In this way, the current review shows the diversity and versatility of ionic liquids as alternative, environmentally acceptable solvents that can potentially be applied in separations of the studied solutes from their (aqueous) solutions or, in the case of high-value compounds, from their natural matrices.

The possibilities to use solutions of ionic liquids or ionic liquids and liquid PEG as mixed solvents - homogeneous solutions or liquid biphasic systems - with tunable solvent properties were particularly emphasized and discussed. In principle, such mixed solvents are obtained by the combination of components that have different solvent abilities toward a target molecule and water (hydrophilic/hydrophobic combination, distinct hydrophilic character and/or hydrogen bond abilities): (i) hydrophilic and hydrophobic imidazolium ionic liquid having a common cation (homogeneous mixed solvents), (ii) hydrophobic ionic liquid and hydrophilic liquid PEG (homogeneous mixed solvent or liquid biphasic system). (iii) hydrophilic ionic liquid and hydrophilic liquid PEG. The tuning is primarily achieved by changing the composition of the homogeneous mixed solvent or of the initial solution that forms a liquid biphasic system. In this way it is much more feasible to obtain the optimum efficiency of separation process the most favorable partition coefficients of a target molecule and separation factors.

Acknowledgements

The experimental data reviewed in this paper were obtained in the previous studies supported financially by the Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (FC&T), Portugal, through the projects PEst-OE/QUI/UIO100/2013 and PTDC/ EQUEPR/103505/2008 as well as by the Research Fund of Ministry of Science and Environmental Protection, Serbia, the Faculty of Technology and Metallurgy, University of Belgrade, Serbia (project no. 172063).

References

- Ab Rani, M.A., Brant, A., Crowhurst, L., Dolan, A., Lui, M., Hassan, N.H., Hallett, J.P., Hunt, P.A., Niedermeyer, H., Perez-Arlandis, J.M., Schrems, M., Welton, T., Wilding, R., 2011. Understanding the polarity of ionic liquids. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 13, 16831–16840.
- Abraham, M.H., Grellier, P., Prior, D.V., Morris, J.J., Taylor, P.J., 1990. Hydrogen bonding. part 10. A scale of solute hydrogen-bond basicity using log K values for complexation in tetrachloromethane. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2, 521–529.
- Altschuller, A.P., 1953. The dipole moments of hydrocarbons. J. Phys. Chem. 57, 538–540.
- Belkov, M.V., Brinkevich, S.D., Samovich, S.N., Skornyakov, I.V., Tolstorozhev, G.B., Shadyro, O.I., 2012. Infrared spectra and structure of molecular complexes of aromatic acids. J. Appl. Spectrosc. 78, 794–801.
- Benotti, M., Brownawell, B.J., 2007. Distributions of pharmaceuticals in an urban estuary during both dry and wet weather conditions. Environ. Sci. Technol. 41, 5795–5802.
- Bini, R., Bortolini, O., Chiappe, C., Pieraccini, D., Siciliano, T., 2007. Development of cation/anion "interaction" scales for ionic liquids through ESI-MS measurements". J. Phys. Chem. B 111, 598–604.

- Blesic, M., Canongia Lopes, J.N., Pádua, A.A.H., Shimizu, K., Costa Gomez, M.F., Rebelo, L.P.N., 2009. Phase equilibria in ionic liquid-aromatic compound mixtures, including benzene fluorination effects. J. Phys. Chem. B 113, 7631–7636.
- Bonhôte, P., Dias, A.-P., Papageorgiou, N., Kalyanasundaram, K., Grätzel, M., 1996. Hydrophobic, highly conductive ambienttemperature molten salts. Inorg. Chem. 35, 1168–1178.
- Calado, M.S., Petrovski, Z., Manic, M.S., Najdanovic-Visak, V., Macedo, E.A., Visak, Z.P., 2013a. Liquid–liquid equilibria of imidazolium ionic liquids having bistriflamide or triflate anions with aromatic non-polar and polar compounds. Fluid Phase Equilib. 337, 67–72.
- Calado, M.S., Ivanis, G.R., Vuksanovic, J.M., Kijevcanin, M.Lj., Serbanovic, S.P., Visak, Z.P., 2013b. "Green Meets Green" – sustainable solutions of imidazolium and phosphonium ionic liquids with poly(ethylene glycol): solubility and phase behavior. Fluid Phase Equilib. 344, 6–12.
- Calado, M.S., Branco, A.S.H., Najdanovic-Visak, V., Visak, Z.P., 2013c. Solubility of high value compounds in environmentally friendly solvents – liquid poly(ethylene glycol) and ionic liquids: experimental study and thermodynamic analysis. J. Chem. Thermodyn. 70, 154–159.
- Cammarata, L., Kazarian, S.G., Salter, P.A., Welton, T., 2001. Molecular states of water in room temperature ionic liquids. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 3, 5192–5200.
- Chen, C., Even, M.A., Wang, J., Chen, Z., 2002. Sum frequency generation vibrational spectroscopy studies on molecular conformation of liquid polymers poly(ethylene glycol) and poly(propylene glycol) at different interfaces. Macromolecules 35, 9130–9135.
- Chiappe, C., Pieraccini, D., 2006. Determination of ionic liquids solvent properties using an unusual probe: the electron donor– acceptor complex between 4,4¢-bis(dimethylamino)-benzophenone and tetracyanoethene. J. Phys. Chem. A 110, 4937–4941.
- Clavijo, E., Menéndez, J.R., Aroca, R., 2008. J. Vibrational and surface-enhanced Raman spectra of vanillic acid. Raman Spectrosc. 39, 1178–1182.
- Coleman, S., Byrne, R., Minkovska, S., Diamond, D., 2009. Thermal reversion of spirooxazine in ionic liquids containing the [NTf₂]⁻ anion. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 11, 5608–5614.
- Crosthwaite, J.M., Aki, S.N.V.K., Maginn, E.J., Brennecke, J.F., 2004. Liquid phase behavior of imidazolium-based ionic liquids with alcohols. J. Phys. Chem. B 108, 5113–5119.
- Crosthwaite, J.M., Aki, S.N.V.K., Maginn, E.J., Brennecke, J.F., 2005. Liquid phase behavior of imidazolium-based ionic liquids with alcohols: effect of hydrogen bonding and non-polar interactions. Fluid Phase Equilib. 228–229, 303–309.
- Crosthwaite, J.M., Muldoon, M.J., Aki, S.N.V.K., Maginn, E.J., Brennecke, J.F., 2006. Liquid phase behavior of ionic liquids with alcohols: experimental studies and modeling. J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 9354–9361.
- Crowhurst, L., Mawdsley, P.R., Perez-Arlandis, J.M., Salter, P.A., Welton, T., 2003. Solvent solute interactions in ionic liquid. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 5, 2790–2794.
- Cruickshank, D.W., 1961. The role of 3d-orbitals in π -bonds between (a) silicon, phosphorus, sulphur, or chlorine and (b) oxygen or nitrogen. J. Chem. Soc., 5486–5504.
- Davis, J.H., 2004. Task-specific ionic liquids. Chem. Lett. 33, 1072– 1077.
- Deetlefs, M., Hardacre, C., Nieuwenhuyzen, M., Sheppard, O., Soper, A.K., 2005. Structure of ionic liquid–benzene mixtures. J. Phys. Chem. B 109, 1593–1598.
- Deetlefs, M., Hardacre, C., Nieuwenhuyzen, M., Padua, A.A.H., Sheppard, O., Soper, A.K., 2006. Liquid structure of the ionic liquid 1,3-dimethylimidazolium bis{(trifluoromethyl) sulfonyl}amide. J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 12055–12061.
- Domanska, U., 2010. Physico-chemical properties and phase behaviour of pyrrolidinium-based ionic liquids. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 11, 1825– 1841.

- Domanska, U., Casas, L.M., 2007. Solubility of phosphonium ionic liquid in alcohols, benzene, and alkylbenzenes. J. Phys. Chem. B 111, 4109–4115.
- Domanska, U., Marciniak, A., 2004. Solubility of ionic liquid emimPF6 in alcohols. J. Phys. Chem. B 108, 2376–2382.
- Domanska, U., Królikowska, M., Paduszynski, K., 2011. Physicochemical properties and phase behaviour of piperidinium-based ionic liquids. Fluid Phase Equilib. 303, 1–9.
- Domanska, U., Zawadzki, M., Lewandrowska, A., 2012. Effect of temperature and composition on the density, viscosity, surface tension, and thermodynamic properties of binary mixtures of Noctylisoquinolinium bis{(trifluoromethyl) sulfonyl}imide with alcohols. J. Chem. Thermodyn. 48, 101–111.
- Fernandes, A.M., Rocha, M.A.A., Freire, M.G., Marrucho, I.M., Coutinho, J.A.P., Santos, L.M.N.B.F., 2011. Evaluation of cation– anion interaction strength in ionic liquids. J. Phys. Chem. B 115, 4033–4041.
- Ferreira, A.R., Freire, M.G., Ribeiro, J.C., Lopes, F.M., Crespo, J.G., Coutinho, J.A.P., 2011. An overview of the liquid–liquid equilibria of (ionic liquid+hydrocarbon) binary systems and their modeling by the conductor-like screening model for real solvents. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 50, 5279–5294.
- Fonrodona, G., Ràfols, C., Bosch, E., Rosés, M., 1996. Autoprotolysis in aqueous organic solvent mixtures. Water/alcohol binary systems. Anal. Chim. Acta 335, 291–302.
- Forsyth, C.M., MacFarlane, D.R., Golding, J.J., Huang, J., Sun, J., Forsyth, M., 2002. Structural characterization of novel ionic materials incorporating the bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl) amide anion. Chem. Matter. 14, 2103–2108.
- Freemantle, M., 1998. Designer solvent-ionic liquids may boost clean technology development. Chem. Eng. News 76, 32–37.
- Freire, M.G., Carvalho, P.J., Gardas, R.L., Marrucho, I.M., Santos, L.M.N.B.F., Coutinho, J.A.P., 2008. Mutual solubilities of water and the [C_nmim][NTf₂] hydrophobic ionic liquids. J. Phys. Chem. B 112, 1604–1610.
- Golding, J.J., MacFarlane, D.R., Spiccia, L., Forsyth, M., Skelton, B.W., White, A.H., 1998. Weak intermolecular interactions in sulfonamide salts: structure of 1-ethyl-2-methyl-3-benzyl imidazolium bis[(trifluoromethyl-)sulfonyl]amide. Chem. Commun., 1593– 1594.
- Heldebrant, D.J., Witt, H.N., Walsh, S.M., Ellis, T., Rauscher, J., Jessop, P.G., 2006. Liquid polymers as solvents for catalytic reductions. Green Chem. 8, 807–815.
- Hofmann, K., Schreiter, K., Seifert, A., Rüffer, T., Lang, H., Spange, S., 2008. Solvatochromism and linear solvation energy relationship of diol- and proline-functionalized azo dyes using the Kamlet–Taft and Catalán solvent parameter sets. New J. Chem. 32, 2180–2188 (Supporting Information).
- Holbrey, J.D., Reichert, W.M., Swatloski, R.P., Broker, G.A., Pitner, W.R., Seddon, K.R., Rogers, R.D., 2002. Efficient, halide free synthesis of new, low cost ionic liquids: 1,3-dialkylimidazolium salts containing methyl- and ethyl-sulfate anions. Green Chem. 4, 407–413.
- Holbrey, J.D., Reichert, W.M., Nieuwenhuyzen, M., Sheppard, O., Hardacre, C., Rogers, R.D., 2003. Liquid clathrate formation in ionic liquid–aromatic mixtures. Chem. Commun., 476–477.
- Holbrey, J.D., Reichert, W.M., Rogers, R.D., 2004. Crystal structures of imidazolium bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)-imide 'ionic liquid' salts: the first organic salt with a cis-TFSI anion conformation. Dalton Trans., 2267–2271.
- Ivanis, G.R., Vuksanovic, J.M., Calado, M.S., Kijevcanin, M.Lj., Serbanovic, S.P., Visak, Z.P., 2012. Liquid–liquid and solid–liquid equilibria in the solutions of poly(ethylene glycol) with several organic solvents. Fluid Phase Equilib. 316, 74–84.
- Jessop, P.G., Jessop, D.A., Fu, D., Phan, L., 2012. Solvatochromic parameters for solvents of interest in green chemistry. Green Chem. 14, 1245–1259.

- Jurado, A., Vàzquez-Suñé, E., Carrera, J., López de Alda, M., Pujades, E., Barceló, D., 2012. Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater in Spain: a review of sources, recent occurrence and fate in a European context. Sci. Total Environ. 440, 82–94.
- Kim, I.-W., Jang, M.D., Ryu, Y.K., Cho, E.H., Lee, Y.K., Park, J.H., 2002. Dipolarity, hydrogen-bond basicity and hydrogen-bond acidity of aqueous poly(ethylene glycol). Anal. Sci. 18, 1357–1360.
- Łachwa, J., Szydlowski, J., Makowska, A., Seddon, K.R., Esperança, J.M.S.S., Guedes, H.J.R., Rebelo, L.P.N., 2006a. Changing from an unusual high-temperature demixing to a UCST-type in mixtures of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis{(trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl} amide and arenes. Green Chem. 8, 262–267.
- Łachwa, J., Bento, I., Duarte, M.T., Canongia Lopes, J.N., Rebelo, L.P.N., 2006b. Condensed phase behaviour of ionic liquid-benzene mixtures: congruent melting of a [emim][NTf₂]·C₆H₆ inclusion crystal. Chem. Commun. 23, 2445–2447.
- Lagalante, A.F., Jacobson, R.J., Bruno, T.J., 1996. UV/Vis spectroscopic evaluation of 4-nitropyridine N-oxide as a solvatochromic indicator for the hydrogen-bond donor ability of solvents. J. Org. Chem. 61, 6404–6406.
- Le Févre, C.G., Le Févre, R.J.W., Robertson, K.W., 1935. The dipole moments of *p*-cymene; 2- and 3-halogeno-*p*-cymenes, carvacrol, and thymol; *p*-ethyltoluene; *p*-tert.-butyltoluene, 1: 3-dimethyl-5-tert.-butylbenxene, tert.-butylbenzene and its *p*-nitro-derivative. J. Chem. Soc., 480–488.
- Leopoldini, M., Russo, N., Toscano, M., 2006. Gas and liquid phase acidity of natural antioxidants. J. Agric. Food Chem. 54, 3078– 3085.
- Liang, J., Jing, Lv., Fan, J., Shang, Z., 2009. Polyethylene glycol as a non-ionic liquid solvent for the synthesis of N-alkyl and Narylimides. Synth. Commun. 39, 2822–2828.
- MacFarlane, D.R., Meakin, P., Sun, J., Amini, N., Forsyth, M., 1999. Pyrrolidinium imides: a new family of molten salts and conductive plastic crystal phases. J. Phys. Chem. B 103, 4164–4170.
- Manic, M.S., Villanueva, D., Fornari, T., Queimada, A.J., Macedo, E.A., Najdanovic-Visak, V., 2012. Solubility of high-value compounds in ethyl-lactate: measurements and modeling. J. Chem. Thermodyn. 48, 93–100.
- Muñoz, I., Gómez, M.J., Molina-Díaz, A., Huijbregts, M.A.J., Fernández-Alba, A.R., García-Calvo, E., 2008. Ranking potential impacts of priority and emerging pollutants in urban wastewater through life cycle impact assessment. Chemosphere 74, 37–44.
- Ochoa, M.L., Harrington, P.B., 2004. Detection of methamphetamine in the presence of nicotine using in situ chemical derivatization and ion mobility spectrometry. Anal. Chem. 76, 985–991.
- Ota, A., Abramovič, H., Abram, V., Poklar Ulrih, N., 2011. Interactions of *p*-coumaric, caffeic and ferulic acids and their styrenes with model lipid membranes. Food Chem. 125, 1256–1261.
- Pagliaro, M. Rossi, M. 2008. The Future of Glycerol: New Uses of a Versatile Raw Material. RSC Green Chemistry Book Series, Chapter 1, pp 2.
- Palgunadi, J., Hong, S.Y., Lee, J.K., Lee, H., Lee, S.D., Cheong, M., Kim, H.S., 2011. Correlation between hydrogen bond basicity and acetylene solubility in room temperature ionic liquids. J. Phys. Chem. B 115, 1067–1074.
- Paulechka, Y.U., Kabo, G.J., Blokhin, A.V., Vydrov, O.A., Magee, J.W., Frenkel, M., 2003. Thermodynamic properties of 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate in the ideal gas state. J. Chem. Eng. Data 48, 457–462.
- Philippova, O.E., Kuchanov, S.I., Topchieva, I.N., Kabanov, V.A., 1985. Hydrogen bonds in dilute solutions of poly(ethylene glycol). Macromolecules 18, 1628–1633.
- Plechkova, N.V., Seddon, K.R., 2008. Applications of ionic liquids in the chemical industry. Chem. Soc. Rev. 37, 123–150.
- Rebelo, L.P.N., Canongia Lopes, J.N., Esperança, J.M.S.S., Filipe, E., 2005. On the critical temperature, normal boiling point, and vapor pressure of ionic liquids. J. Phys. Chem. B 109, 6040–6043.

- Rebelo, L.P.N., Canongia Lopes, J.N., Esperanca, J.M.S.S., Guedes, H.J.R., Lachwa, J., Najdanovic-Visak, V., Visak, Z.P., 2007. Accounting for the unique, doubly dual nature of ionic liquids from a molecular thermodynamic and modeling standpoint. Acc. Chem. Res. 40, 1114–1121.
- Reid, R.C., Prausnitz, J., Poling, M., 1987. The Properties of Gasses and Liquids, fourth ed. McGraw Hill, New York.
- Rizk, H.A., Elanwar, M.I., 1968. Dipole moments of glycerol, isopropyl alcohol, and isobutyl alcohol. Can. J. Chem. 46, 507–513.
- Rodríguez, H., Francisco, M., Rahman, M., Sun, N., Rogers, R.D., 2009. Biphasic liquid mixtures of ionic liquids and polyethylene glycols. Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 11, 10916–10922.
- Rogers, R.D., Seddon, K.R., 2003. Ionic liquids–solvents of the future? Science 302, 792–793.
- Rudan-Tasic, D., Klofutar, C., 2005. Apparent specific polarization and dipole moment of some poly(oxyethylene) glycols in 1,4dioxane and benzene solutions at 298.15 K. Monatsh. Chem. 136, 1171–1182.
- Sabadini, E., Estudo Físico-Químico de Polietileno Glicol com Água e Solventes Aromáticos. PhD Thesis, Universidade Campinas, Brasil, 1993.
- Shim, H., Hwang, B., Yang, S.T., 2004. Separation of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes by micellar electrokinetic capillary chromatography. Environ. Technol. 25, 51–56.
- Sponza, D.T., 2002. Toxicity studies in a tobacco industry biological treatment plant. Water, Air, Soil Pollut. 134, 137–164.
- Stuart, M., Lapworth, D., Crane, E., Hart, A., 2012. Review of risk from potential emerging contaminants in UK groundwater. Sci. Total Environ. 416, 1–21.
- Thomas, S.P., Pavan, M.S., Guru Row, T.N., 2012. Charge density analysis of ferulic acid: robustness of a trifurcated C–H···O hydrogen bond. Cryst. Growth Des. 12, 6083–6091.

- Tian, M., Row, K.H., 2008. Study of retention in micellar liquid chromatography on a C18 column on the basis of linear solvation energy relationships. Bull. Korean Chem. Soc. 29, 979–984.
- Trindade, C.A.S., Visak, Z.P., Bogel-Lukasik, R., Bogel-Lukasik, E., Nunes da Ponte, M., 2010. Liquid–liquid equilibrium of mixtures of imidazolium-based ionic liquids with propanediols or glycerol. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 49, 4850–4857.
- Ueki, T., Watanabe, M., 2006. Upper critical solution temperature behavior of poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) in an ionic liquid and preparation of thermo-sensitive nonvolatile gels. Chem. Lett. 35, 964–965.
- Visak, Z.P., 2012. Some aspects of ionic liquids as diverse and versatile sustainable solvents. J. Solution Chem. 41, 1673–1695.
- Visak, Z.P., Yague, S.L., Canongia Lopes, J.N., Rebelo, L.P.N., 2007. Nicotine: on the potential role of ionic liquids for its processing and purification. J. Phys. Chem. B 111, 7934–7937.
- Vuksanovic, J.M., Calado, M.S., Ivanis, G.R., Kijevcanin, M.Lj., Serbanovic, S.P., Visak, Z.P., 2013. Environmentally friendly solutions of liquid poly(ethylene glycol) and imidazolium based ionic liquids with bistriflamide and triflate anions: volumetric and viscosity studies. Fluid Phase Equilib. 352, 100–109.
- Weiler-Feilchenfeld, H., Neiman, Z., 1970. Dipole moments and electronic structure of some xanthine and thioxanthine derivatives. J. Chem. Soc. B, 596–598.
- Xiu, Z.-L., Zeng, A.-P., 2008. Present state and perspective of downstream processing of biologically produced 1,3-propanediol and 2,3-butanediol. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 78, 917–926.
- Zakrzewska, A., Gawinecki, R., Kolehmainen, E., Ośmialowski, B., 2005. ¹³C-NMR based evaluation of the electronic and steric interactions in aromatic amines. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 6, 52–62.